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Fig. 1. The building housing the first Synagogue in Scotland in Richmond Court, taken in 1929 by
Alfred Henry Rushbrook. Reproduced with permission of the National Library of Scotland

t is just over 200 years since the founding of the
first Jewish synagogue in Scotland in 1817 in
Edinburgh. The congregation’s services were held in
a flat in Richmond Court, off what was then North
Richmond Street, since demolished as part of slum
clearance in the early 1930s. The pend that led into
the Court from Richmond Place still exists; although
it now leads through a 1930s block to a lane leading
to the Pleasance, passing the entrance to St Leonard’s
nursery school (Fig. 1).
Several initiatives were taken to mark this
bicentenary and to explore and document the history

of Jews in Scotland. One of these, sponsored by
the International Institute for Jewish Genealogy in
Jerusalem,! produced two books: a general history
of Jews in Scotland, and an edited collection of
more scholarly articles.? I contributed a chapter to
the latter book, a demographic summary of all Jews
in Scotland from 1841 to 1911,% based on 45,000
records from Censuses and registrations of births,
deaths or marriages relating to over 29,000 Jewish
individuals, transcribed by a team led by the eminent
genealogist Michael Tobias.*

This article uses the records from the 5,300
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Jews found in Edinburgh records during this period
to describe Jewish life in the city up to 1911. By
focusing on the 347 marriages that took place
from the introduction of civil registration in 1855
up to 1911 where at least one of the partners was
Jewish, we get some insight into religious life in
that period.® Several books on the history of Jews in
Edinburgh, two of them published in 2019, were a
great help in understanding the communities during
the period. The books, by Mark Gilfillan and Hannah
Holtschneider respectively, are major sources, as are
other earlier works.® Online resources now make it
easy to trace individuals. In particular, the Jewish
Chronicle and the Scotsman archives as well as Post
Office directories available from the National Library
of Scotland can be searched for individual names
and organisations. Two very different memoirs from
Jews who lived in Edinburgh just after this period
help to breathe life into the people in the records.
David Daiches paints lively pictures of his father’s
congregants in his autobiographical tribute to his
father, Salis Daiches, who was the rabbi of the
Edinburgh Hebrew Congregation from 1919 to his
death in 1945.” Howard Denton describes life in the
then Jewish Quarter of Edinburgh as the ‘Happy Land’
where he was born in 1914 and spent his childhood
as Hyam Zoltie.®

Although the genealogical data includes many
later records, the choice of dates (1841-1911) was
dictated by the current availability of the Census
records, and also by the need to protect the privacy
of any individuals who may still be alive today.
But it was a fortunate choice because it covers the
period of mass westward migration of Jews from
Eastern Europe before it was slowed by immigration
restrictions brought in by the Aliens Act of 1905, and
ceased completely with the outbreak of World War 1.

Migrants and trans-migrants

The first synagogue in Scotland was founded by
just 20 families. Tobias’s thorough investigation
found little evidence of Jews in Edinburgh before its
founding.® The exception was a small group of Jewish
families resident in the Canongate in the 1790s. One
of them, the chiropodist Heyman/Herman Lion/
Lyons, purchased a plot of land on Calton Hill for
a mausoleum, now buried under the foundations of
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the Observatory but rediscovered and investigated
in 2013.1° These families originated elsewhere in
the UK and in the Netherlands. The Census records
show the increase in numbers of Jews in Edinburgh
from 1841 to 1911 (Table 1). Those captured in the

% of households

Household size %
with any members

Numbers

i people households in Edinburghatthe 1 3w05 6+

Jrar next Census

1841 145 43 326 163 €05 232
1851 114 28 429 10.7 60.7 28.6
1861 152 36 36.1 8.3 694 224
1871 231 52 38.5 96 577 326
1881 338 74 68.9 4.1 63.5 325
1891 925 178 66.9 10.1 46 43.8
1901 1614 302 599 9.6 423 48.1
1911 2006 380 - 7.6 468 45.6

Table 1. Number of Jews and Jewish households in Edinburgh Census
returns 1841 to 1911, percentage of households where any family
member is present at the subsequent Census, and household sizes

Censuses can only have been a small proportion of
those Jews who passed through Edinburgh during
this period. Emigration of Jews from Eastern Europe
increased from a trickle of around 7,000 per year
from the 1820s onward, but became a flood after the
assassination of Tsar Alexander II in 1881 prompted
a wave of pogroms across Russia and the economic
position for Jews in the Russian Empire worsened. In
total it is estimated that around three million Jews left
Eastern Europe in the nineteenth century.** A popular
route to North America was from Hamburg to Leith,
then to Glasgow to set sail for the Goldene Medina
of North America, made easier by the opening of the
rail link between Edinburgh and Glasgow in 1842.
Evans®? discusses the transmigrants who followed
this route and the philanthropic efforts by Jews and
others to relieve their wretched condition.

What factors influenced some Jews to settle in
Scotland? A popular myth is that they were duped by
unscrupulous travel agents who sold them tickets to
America that only took them as far as Scotland. Jack
Ronder’s novel, based on the life of his grandfather,
tells such a tale as well as giving a dramatic account of
his escape from a pogrom in his home town.** A more
plausible explanation is that they were forced to stay
in Scotland to earn sufficient money for the second leg
of their journey, and some ended up settling here for
long enough to be recorded in the Censuses. Once a
Jewish person was settled in Edinburgh, other family
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members would often join them, either directly from
Eastern Europe, or from other parts of the UK.™

The number of Jewish people and Jewish
households increased only slightly in the first part of
the period but then rose steeply from 1881 to 1911.
The numbers are slightly lower than in my earlier
analyses of these data,'’® because further checking
of evidence for Jewish status led to the exclusion of
some families.’® The households with only a single
Jewish member were most often boarders or lodgers,
usually single men: we know from ships’ manifests
that men often travelled first to be joined later by their
wives and families. The proportion of large families
increased in the later years. Table 1 shows a large
turnover of families from one Census to the next,
although a larger proportion of families remained in
Edinburgh in the later years. Figure 2 shows how the
proportion of Edinburgh Jews born in Eastern Europe
increased sharply during the period 1851 to 1911."
Their origins were in what was known as the ‘Pale

Families of more than 1 person > 14 in Edinburgh at each Census

O OTH B SCT 0O GBIRE O WEUR B EEUR

(=]

2_.

8_

8_

o

=

o

o

o - I

1851

1861

1871 1881 1891 1901 1911

Fig. 2. Percentage of Jews (aged >14) in Jewish families by place
of birth in Census records 1851 to 1911

of Settlement’ of the Russian Empire in what is now
Poland, Lithuania, Latvia and Ukraine.'* Most of
these immigrants were Yiddish speakers from small
towns known as shtetls where Jewish traders and
artisans formed a high proportion of the population.’®

How did the local population, Jewish and non-
Jewish, react to this influx of largely destitute Jews?
The nature of the Jewish population of Scotland
before the influx of new migrants was very different
from the Anglo-Jewish establishment in London at
that time. The latter included many wealthy families,
such as the Rothschilds and the Montefiores, who
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were integrated into English life in which many
played prominent roles. According to Gartner these
established families ‘showed no pleasure in the
arrival of these new immigrants and did everything
in their power to persuade them not to come.’® In
contrast, the small number of Jewish families in
Edinburgh before 1881 was a mixture of professionals,
mainly teachers or doctors, and a few successful
businessmen? who had set up in Scotland, often
immigrants themselves. Despite the tensions between
the religious communities, described later, there is
little evidence of hostility to new immigrants among
the existing Jewish population. Gilfillan?? describes
the efforts of both Jewish and Christian communities
to support these new arrivals. Funds were raised,
mostly by non-Jews, and welfare organisations were
set up to support them and to provide temporary
accommodation for trans-migrants. At a public
meeting held by Lord Provost Boyd in 1882 on the
persecution of the Jews of Russia, a letter of support
was read out from the Earl of Rosebery.?® Rosebery
himself had a link to the Anglo-Jewish establishment
through his marriage in 1878 to Hannah Rothschild.
He and his wife were benefactors to the immigrant
community in Edinburgh, and Gilfillan argues that
this may have been a factor in changing Rosebery’s
stance on immigration policy.

Jewish occupations in Edinburgh

The occupations of individuals entered in the Census
enumeration books have been transcribed by Tobias
and his team. Algorithms such as HISCO?* have been
developed to classify such historical occupations,
but none of them would classify more than a small
proportion of the Census text strings into one of their
categories, and on checking the output many of them
looked wrong. To make sense of the data, I developed
analgorithm thatbuiltupon what we know were typical
Jewish occupations (see Fig. 3). First, I attempted to
identify the wealthy and successful, shown in yellow,
including professional groups such as teachers and
doctors, those with independent means, and cases
where the text string mentioned employees. The
next group were those in retail, brokers/wholesalers,
shopkeepers, and pedlars, shown in shades of pink
in Figure 3. The pedlar group were the trebblers®
described in David Daiches’s memoir as travelling



BOOK OF THE OLD EDINBURGH CLUB

Other

Tradespeople, manual workers
Tobacco workers

Wood worker glazier

Rubber workers

Shoe or slipper makers

Tailors, dressmakers, milliners
Jewellers, watchmakers, furriers
Rabbis, Hebrew teachers

Hawker, pedlars, commission agents
Shopkeepers

Agents, brokers, importers
Clerical, technical

Professions, employers, gentlemen
Not reported

100

80

40 60

20

OO0 DO ENEEOOCEO

1841

Head of household occupations

N |
| [ O

| |

1851 1861 1871 1881 1891 1901 1911

Fig. 3. Percentage of occupations of Jewish heads of households in each group for Censuses 1841 to 1911

out of Edinburgh to peddle their wares in the Scottish
countryside. Rabbis, Hebrew teachers and Synagogue
beadles are shown in blue. The purple bars show
craftsmen including the typical Jewish occupations of
jewellers/furriers and tailors/dressmakers. The shoe/
slipper makers and rubber workers who appeared
in later years arrived from Leeds and Manchester
respectively to work in a slipper factory and in the
manufacture of waterproof clothing.? Many of
the woodworkers and glaziers were engaged in
producing the furniture and framed pictures that were
popular items for peddling. Cigarette-making was a
home-based trade, often carried out by women. The
occupations shown in green were those with a very
small proportion of Jews: tradesmen, farmers and
manual workers. Within each colour group the more
prestigious occupations are shown in a darker shade.

Although the proportions in the most prosperous
groups were higher in the earliest years, the numbers
were small.”’ The proportions in the retail group
(pink) and in craft occupations (purple) increased
as more immigrants arrived from Eastern Europe.
Within the retail group there were a high proportion
of hawkers etc., only falling slightly in 1911.

The Jewish Quarter

Most of the new immigrants settled in what would
come to be known as the Jewish Quarter, bounded
by Drummond Street to the north, by East and West
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Crosscauseway to the south, with Potterrow and
Buccleuch Street to the west and Salisbury Crags
and Arthur’s Seat to the east (see Fig. 4). The street
layout remained as on this map until well into the
twentieth century, although many of the tenement
blocks are now demolished and replaced by new
housing, especially in the Dumbiedykes area leading
down to Arthur’s Seat. It was a district of slum
housing, described in 1865 as ‘wretched tenements
and courts ... at many points fallen into decay’ by
Henry Littlejohn, Edinburgh’s first Medical Officer
of Health.?®

I selected these boundaries from areas with large
numbers of Jewish households, but excluded streets
just to the South of this area, such as Rankeillor Street
and St Leonard’s Hill, where the records showed that
families would often move to better housing once
they had been established in the city, but would often
return to the Jewish Quarter to shop or go to one of the
synagogues. Denton describes life there as follows:

The scene was not a Scottish one. There was much extrovert
activity: arms flayed [sic] and hands were outstretched
in a thousand dramatic gestures as banter was traded and
newspapers were argued over, People yelled their strange
greetings from one pavement to another while, filling the
roadway were salesmen, scholars, schemers, inventors, rogues
and Rabbis.?

At that time there were several Jewish bakers and
butchers, and even a kosher dairy. But it was by no
means a ghetto, in that Jews did not make up the
majority of the population of the Jewish Quarter
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at any time. The Census records show that most
addresses would have only a single Jewish household
among what were often ten to twelve houscholds
on a stair. In the 1901 Census® Jewish households
made up only three per cent of the households in the
Census enumeration districts® in the Jewish Quarter.
Even in the enumeration districts with the highest
concentration of Jewish households, North Richmond
Street and Arthur Street, they only comprised eleven
per cent and ten per cent of households respectively.

The last Jewish butcher and baker® in Edinburgh

—

e

districts in the Jewish Quarter, and those in the area
around Caledonian Crescent in Dalry. The latter
arca was initially settled by the workers in the
Caledonian Rubber Works, but in the three Census
years 1891, 1901 and 1911 only one third of heads
of households were rubber workers, while the rest
were almost all travellers or tailors. For these two
areas persons per room are compared for Jewish
and non-Jewish households. Sixty-three per cent of
all households in Edinburgh had more inhabitants
than rooms (persons per room over 1), but for both

Fig. 4. Extract from Bartholomew’s Plan of Edinburgh & Leith (1882). Reproduced with permission
of the National Library of Scotland

were situated in the Jewish Quarter until 1986 and
2005 respectively. Anyone wanting to explore the
area now can download the Jewish History Tour, a
self-guided app for mobile phones, and read about it
in Hannah Holtschneider’s book.*

The anonymised data from the 1901 Census
allows us to learn more about Jewish housing in
Edinburgh.®* The 1901 Census was the first to
collect data on the number of rooms available to
each household. The ratio of household size to
number of rooms (i.e., persons per room) assesses
overcrowding in these homes. Table 2 shows
persons per room for all Edinburgh households,
and then for households in Census enumeration
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Jews and non-Jews living in the Jewish Quarter and
in Dalry the figure was over 90 per cent. Within
each area Jewish households were somewhat more
crowded than non-Jewish households, especially
for the most crowded homes. Denton describes
living conditions in the flat in Heriot Mount (see
Fig. 5) where a family of ten shared three rooms
(3.3 persons per room).* Their neighbours” homes
would be equally impoverished and what little
evidence there is suggests that non-Jews and
Jews coexisted peacefully in these areas. Many
of their neighbours would have been immigrants
themselves. Correspondents to the Scotsman
revealed anti-immigrant and anti-Jewish views but
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A Location Denomination Seats

All Edinburgh __Jewish Quarter Dalry South College Street United Presbyterian 1570

% households over non-Jewish Jewish non-Jewish Jewish oo United Presbyterian 1800
; ;:2::::::“ :: :; :? :; :; Nicolson Square Methodist 1169
3 i Dk o 10 29 39 19 41 Roxburgh Place St Peter's (Episcopal) 465
4 persons per room 3 12 17 5 9 Roxburgh Place Roxburgh Church (CoS) 1150
5 persons per room L 3 z ] 3 Simpson’s Court United Presbyterian 874
Hbreciibodioy 196 37 109 92 2 Chapel Street Buccleuch Church (CoS) 1330
Table 2. Percentage of Edinburgh households in the 1901 Census ~ INicolson Street United Presbyterian 1200
that exceeded each level of persons per room, by area, and by Hill Place Free Church 740
whether households were identified as Jewish Davie Sticat Free Church 200
these were stoutly rejected by Jews and by others.®® N Richmond Street United Presbyterian 400
The synagogue in Richmond Court in the centre  Richmond Place Independent Chapel 950

of the Jewish Quarter was still the only one in  Richmond Court Latter-day Saints i
Edinburgh in 1854. The annotation to the Ordnance A hur Street United Presbyterian 1000
Survey town plan of that date reads ‘Jews Synagogue e— PR 500

seats for 100’ over the building illustrated in Figure 1.
Another building in Richmond Court, the Chapel of
the Latter-day Saints, is shown on subsequent maps
as a Baptist church and later as a synagogue which
became the home of the New Hebrew Congregation
(NHC), with seats for 350 (Fig. 7). The description of
a bar-mitzvah in Jack Ronder’s novel appears to have
been set there.

There were many Christian houses of worship
in the Jewish Quarter (Table 3). Adding up the 1854
mapmaker’s number of seats gives a total capacity
in Christian churches of almost 14,000. With the
influx of immigrants from 1881, missions to the Jews

Fig. 5. View down Heriot Mount taken in the 1950s, published

in The Scotsman with the headline ‘Scotland’s Disgrace’. © The
Scotsman Publications Ltd

Table 3. Christian churches within the Jewish Quarter in
1852. Source: Ordnance Survey town plan of Edinburgh, 1854
(surveyed 1852)

opened in the Jewish Quarter, often providing English
classes as well as food and other means of support.’’
Not all Jews lived within the Jewish Quarter. In
the earlier years several families lived in the more
spacious housing in the New Town, or in less spacious
flats on the Royal Mile, Cowgate or St Mary’s Street,
all close to the Jewish Quarter. In later years Jewish
households were spread across the city, but with the
greatest concentration in Marchmont, and in the St
Leonard’s area just south of the Jewish Quarter close
to where the Salisbury Road synagogue now stands.

Marriage legislation and registration

Now that the scene has been set, I can go on to discuss
Jewish marriages. But first some information about
marriage legislation. During this period marriages
were either regular or irregular. Regular marriages
were religious marriages carried out by a minister of
religion. Until 1874 all religious marriages had to be
preceded by the calling of the Banns of Marriage, at
least three weeks before the marriage, by a minister
of the Established church of the parish where they
resided. However, this law does not seem to have
been adhered to as records from that period report



JEWS IN EDINBURGH AND THEIR MARRIAGES 1841-1911

banns having been called in churches of other
denominations and in synagogues.®® After 1874
notices of religious marriages could be posted with
the Registrar.

Irregular marriages were very rare before the
1870s but subsequently increased.®® The commonest
type was marriage by declaration where the couple
had simply to make a statement before two witnesses,
and then they were married. After the start of
marriage registration in 1855 this was often done at
the Registrar’s Office, but such a marriage could be
held anywhere, and the signed declaration submitted
to the Office. A satirical poem by Lord Neaves, a
prominent member of the nineteenth-century legal
establishment in Scotland, describes them:

Suppose that young Jockey and Jenny say,
‘We two are husband and wife’

The witnesses needn’t be many —

They’re instantly buckled for life.

Woo’d and married an’ a’

Married and woo’d an’ a’

It isn’t with us a hard thing

To get woo’d and married an’ a’.°

This form of marriage remained legal until 1940.

Jews marrying in Edinburgh

In the following sections I have used examples from
the marriage records to look at the variety of Jewish
families resident in Edinburgh at this time. Some
details of each marriage are given indexed as MI,
M2, etc. The officiants at the weddings, usually the
ministers, identify the community affiliation of the
couple, and details of the backgrounds of some of
them are given as O1, O2 etc.

Over three-quarters of marriages involving Jews
had a Jewish ceremony. This increased up to the 1890s
and then declined again. Tobias has also collected data
on marriages involving Jews after 1911 and although
these may be less complete than the earlier data they
show that the decline in the percentage of Jewish
marriages starting around 1890 was the start of the
much more precipitous decline that we see in Figure 6.

Although the Glasgow Herald announced an
1822 wedding in the Edinburgh Synagogue as
the first Jewish marriage in Scotland,” the first
registered marriage with a Jewish ceremony (M1)
took place in 1861:
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Fig. 6. Percentage of marriages involving Jews with a Jewish
ceremony by decade 1860-2000. The vertical line indicates 1911

M1 Morris Rosenbaum to Rachel Friedlander. Officiating
Levi Rosenbaum, ‘after Banns according to the forms of the
Jewish Church’ at the Synagogue in Richmond Court. Morris
was a warehouseman from Manchester. Rabbi Rosenbaum
lived in three rooms in North Bridge with his wife and two
young children, born in Hull. In the 1861 Census, just before
the wedding, the bride lived with her family at 227 High
Street, along with her six younger siblings. Rachel’s father,
Myar, was a picture dealer. From the birthplaces of the
children we can tell that they had arrived in Edinburgh from
Poland six years earlier and they were now in what, for the
time, was fairly spacious accommodation with five rooms. By
the 1871 Census most of the Friedlander family were found in
Whitechapel, London.

There were three non-Jewish marriages registered
before this one, all with Christian ceremonies. In all
cases the groom appears to have been Jewish and the
wife not; the first (M2) was in 1855:

M2 Hyman Assenheim to Jane Mac Pherson, a hawker’s
daughter, by a Church of Scotland minister. In the 1861 Census
they and their baby son were in a single room at 8 Cowgate,
a building with a total of seven families all with one room
each. Hyman makes eleven appearances in Census or birth and
death records. His occupation was sometimes confectioner,
once chiropodist and latterly a hawker. His first wife died
and he remarried much later in 1874 in Inverness to another
hawker, apparently not Jewish, who was also widowed. He
and his daughter both died in Dingwall, north of Inverness, in
1881 and 1882.

Synagogues and communities 1817-1911

Until the late 1880s the Edinburgh Hebrew
Congregation was the only religious Jewish community
in Edinburgh. From the 1890s onwards the new arrivals
started to form their own communities. In this section
I will give brief histories of each of the congregations.
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EDINBURGH HEBREW CONGREGATION (EHC)

In 1868 EHC moved from Richmond Court to
grander premises in Ross House, Park Place, behind
the spot where Edinburgh University Students’ Union
now stands. In 1896 the Park Place building was
taken over by the University and the congregation
moved to a former Free Church in what was then
Graham Street, now Keir Street, in 1898. The
congregation remained there until 1932 when, with
Rabbi Daiches’s unification of all the Edinburgh
congregations, it moved to the new Salisbury Road
synagogue where it still meets. EHC was initially
a Yiddish speaking congregation but its members
increasingly became integrated into Scottish life,
spoke English and, according to Gilfillan, many of
them prospered.

NEW HEBREW CONGREGATION (NHC)
AND OTHERS

Jews migrating from Eastern Europe formed their
own congregations (Chevroth) initially meeting in
rooms in tenement buildings, rather than joining
EHC. Eventually they formed Yiddish speaking
congregations separate from EHC, which they
referred to as the Englishe Shul. There were
synagogues in North Richmond Street, Clerk Street,
Guthrie Street and Roxburgh Place. Only the first,
the NHC, has a building that appears on maps of
the period: the Ordnance Survey town plan of
1893 shows the NHC synagogue building at the
back of Richmond Court — itself the site of the first
synagogue — that had been a Mormon Chapel in
1854 (Fig. 7). The Guthrie Street synagogue was a
room in a slipper factory in this short street that links
Chambers Street to the Cowgate, run by a group of
Jews who had moved from Leeds. Several of the
marriages took place in each of North Richmond
Street and Guthrie Street synagogues.

The other congregations appear not to have had
their own premises, other than rooms in flats, until
after 1911. The Central Synagogue met in the Literary
Institute, South Clerk Street, where two marriages
were held; later they had their own premises in
Roxburgh Place. Rev. Teitelman, who had previously
been the Rabbi of the NHC, moved to the Central
Synagogue in 1911.
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Fig. 7. Extract from the Ordnance Survey town plan of Edinburgh
1894, sheet I11.8.21. Reproduced with permission of the National
Library of Scotland

THE DALRY SYNAGOGUE

Another congregation, the Dalry Synagogue, was
established at around the same time. It was founded by
the Jews from Manchester working in the Caledonian
Rubber Works.”? They initially held services in
tenement rooms, but in 1890 moved to a building
in a back-court in Caledonian Crescent known as
the Blechene Shul because of its tin roof. Figure 8
shows it, with seats for 100, sharing a courtyard with
a mission hall with seats for 200. Gilfillan describes
this area as a slum. It might be by today’s standards,
but as we saw above, conditions were less crowded
than those in the Jewish Quarter. Residents had
modest but fairly modern flats with inside toilets but
no baths — although they could make use of the nearby
Dalry public baths, the large building to the right in
Figure 8. As we shall see they had close relationships
with EHC.

Gilfillan’s and Holtschneider’s books on Jewish
Edinburgh stress the differences between EHC and
these new congregations. While these did exist, with
the new immigrants feeling excluded, there is also
evidence of officiants working together. In the Jewish
Chronicle of 15 February 1895 we read:

The Edinburgh New Hebrew Congregation have suffered
a severe loss by the death of Mr B. Rosenheim, one of the
founders of the congregation, who worked as an indefatigable
member of the Committee since its formation. His funeral on



